Performance Advisory Group
(PAG) 74

Location: MS Teams
Date and time: 12 February 2025, 1000 - 1200

Status of minutes: FINAL

Company No: 9276929 mosl.co.uk



Meeting Minutes

Market attendees

MOSL

Name ‘ (Initial) | Role/Organisation | Name (Initial) | Role/Organisation
Adam Boyns AB CCW (0O) Lewis Campbell LC Castle (R)
Angela Brown ABr Northumbrian (W)  Mark Howell MH Waterplus (R)
Clare Garland CG United Utilities (W)  Martin Pope MP Southern (W)
Daniel Proctor DP Waterplus (R) Michael Gadd MG United Utilities (W)
David Morris DM Waterplus (R) Mike Rathbone MRa Severn Trent (W)
David Moss DMo Castle (R) Pam Nash PN C&cC (0)
Emily Jerome EJ Water2Business (R)  Paul Baker PB Business Stream (R)
Gerard Lyden GL Thames (W) Paul Walmsley PW Yorkshire (W)
Gillian Bladen GB Southwest (W) Peter Strain PS Castle (R)
Greig Jardine GJ Robert RH Ofwat (O)

Hetherington
Harriet Chappell HC Yorkshire (W) Shakima Fagan SFa Everflow (W)
Jamie Davis JD Castle (R) Sindiso Bango- SBD Waterscan (R)
Dube

Julie-Ann Anderson  JAA SES (R) Tim Brewer TB Wessex (W)
Karen Winfield KW Anglian (W) Toria Milton ™
Letoia Mann LM Clear Business (R) Wendy Monk WM Wave (R)

MOSL Attendees
Name (Initial) | Role Name (Initial) | Role
Miles Robinson MR Chair Huw Comerford HCo Observer
Steve Formoy SF Presenter Nichola Sampford NS Observer
Adam Richardson AR Observer Sam Webb SwW Observer
Amy English AE Observer Sauda Dickinson SD Notes

PAG74 12 February 2025



Elliot Smith ES Observer

1. Welcome & update

MR welcomed all members to the meeting and confirmed the agenda.

MR reminded attendees that agenda, minutes and slides are published on the MOSL website
for review and questions and comments to be sent via mpfreform@mosl.co.uk.

MR presented the MPF Programme progress overview.

MR presented the MPF Programme plan.

JD queried which group the status of the programme is reviewed by and how quality is
measured.

MR advised that the MPF team determine the statuses of the programme and present them to
the MPF Steering Group for review. The quality is measured by whether the MPF team are
confident the right product can be delivered in time.

DM queried when trading parties get a view of the code documentation.
MR advised that parties would be able see the documentation once published on the

MOSL website after the CCC meeting, but that MOSL would confirm the exact expected
date.

2. Review of M01/M02 design

MR presented M01/MO02 merged or as separate KPlIs, as on slide 10.
MR presented M02 as KPI or API, as on slide 11.

JD advised that the request from some trading parties was not to do away with M02 but to
merge M02 with M01, noting that smart meters would still be measured as a code obligation
and having smart meters as a separate APl would allow the PAC to investigate smart meter
performance separately. There has been no investigation or evidence that the market is
concerned about smart meter roll outs and there would still be a focus on customer outcomes
if the metrics are merged.

PAG74 12 February 2025



mailto:mpfreform@mosl.co.uk

MOSL

GB agreed that combining the metrics does not change the focus on customer outcomes and
meter reading remains an obligation, with the separate APIs allowing for background detail,
noting that the arguments presented are not reason enough for not combining the metrics.

MR queried why the argument around separating internal and external meters would not
apply to smart and non-smart meters.

GB noted that there would also be a difference in technologies with smart meters and that we
would not want to end up separating the metrics into even more buckets.

JD advised that separating internal and external meters was a reaction to the design of MO1
and trying to mitigate the negative outcomes of the design to account for reasons outside of
the retailers’ control, noting that if the obligation was initially addressed and skip data was
made available, there would not have been a need to separate internal and external meters.

GL advised that there was logic around separating these metrics was only sensible when the
assumption was that the responsibility of the reads would be changing, noting that singling
out AMI technology would create regional differences and does not recognise other
technology difference. Retailers are not in control of the technology of the meters and how
fast it gets implemented. Retailers with less AMR have a much harder task reading meters than
retailers that have more AMR. Simplicity would be better in merging the two measures.

AB advised that the responsibilities and obligations would be the same regardless of the meter
technology and questioned why treating meter types differently and having separate KPIs
would matter. AB queried whether the separation of the metrics aids eases of reporting and
assessing meter reading performance.

MR confirmed that the observation on separating the metrics revealed that some retailers
would be underperforming but that if the metrics were merged retailers would be performing
against the standard and consideration was taken on fairness and some retailers having a
higher proportion of smart meters than others.

AB queried whether separating the metrics would help with a better visibility of meter reading
performance and a more targeted intervention by the PAC, which would help customer
incomes in the future.

MR confirmed that the separation of the metrics allows more targeted performance
management.

SFa noted that the performance on smart meter reading is different from non-smart meters
and advised that merging the metrics would create a distortion of performance as retailers

have a different proportion of smart meters, agreeing that the metrics need to be separated
but that clear outlines are needed on what point the meter is recognised as smart and starts

PAG74 12 February 2025 3




MOSL

incurring penalties after being installed and what technologies are being counted or
separated.

SF advised that it would make more sense to separate the measures to better assess retailer
performance and help the customer better understand and compare the performance, noting
that the average level of performance in the market is currently 80% on M01 and looking at
performance of smart meters, the average performance is 97%. Merging the two metrics
would result in combing two levels of performance that a very different and would make it
difficult for a customer to differentiate between retailers performance reading traditional
meters versus smart meters. A smart meter will have to be defined in the code.

DM advised that the metric is meant to measure meter reading performance and that there is
no performance to be measured with a smart meter as it is just a matter of whether the meter
is turned on, noting that there should not be a performance measure for smart meters that
trading parties are charged on, querying why MOSL feel parties need to be charged and what
distinction will be made between different technologies. The industry is in a transitional period
and we need to ensure the right things are being measured at the right time, suggesting that
we currently need to be measuring how trading parties are adhering to their smart meter
rollout and how quickly they react to technology failures.

JD advised that the codes do not distinguish between meter types, the measures do not align
with what is in the code. The merged metric can be made future proof by adjusting the
thresholds and M02 can be kept as an API for the PAC to have a view of the details. Separating
these metrics will disincentivise smart meter rollouts, which would have a negative impact on
customers.

PB advised that all parties agree that there is a difference between smart and analogue meters,
but that there are complexities around the current transition that parties do not quite
understand, noting concerns around having performance charges as there are things outside
of retailers’ control for smart AMI meters. Understanding both views, advised that there is a
need to understand the rationale behind the minimum standards if the metrics are to be kept
separate.

SFa advised that just because a meter is smart does not mean it is infallible and that there
would still be issues with smart meters as they are being installed and used, and noted that
where there are issues, it is the retailer’s responsibility to raise a bilateral to have that meter
excluded from penalties and queried how M02 would disincentivize smart meter roll outs.

JD advised that there are difficult to read meters and that Castle are currently trying to roll out
smart meters, all good meters would fall under M02 and LUMs and other difficult meters
would fall under M01, merging the metrics would allow leniency on performance. Having
separate measure would mean trading parties would spend money on fines and charges
rather than smart meter rollouts.

PAG74 12 February 2025 4




MOSL

DMo advised that smart and analogue meters should be measured differently as it provides a
different way of working in future around how smart metres can be managed and controlled.
Retailers have no control over the meter location, data and servicing. There is not enough
logic in place to identify the different challenges between smart and analogue metres.

MR queried the view on separating the metrics and having a bucket of harder to read metrics,
noting that it would increase the incentive to read difficult meters.

JD advised that there are already natural incentives to read a meter as it impacts trading
parties’ revenue streams, noting disagreement with a view that trading parties need extra
penalties to incentivise meter reading. Combing the metrics allows for more resource focus on
hard to read meters.

LM advised that there are current challenges where retailers have confirmed that a meter has
been removed but that wholesalers are not willing to make these SPIDs unmeasured or install
new meters.

MR advised that this issue should be address through bilateral exclusion and that these are
behavioural challenges that need to be managed in the Hub.

AR noted that if trading parties are not doing the right things, that is potential grounds for a
dispute and that there are mechanisms to be used.

ABr advised that, as well as raising a bilateral, skip code data would also be useful to allow
penalties to be paused for retailers in these instances.

MR confirmed that a separate code change is underway outside of the MPF programme for
skip codes.

DMo advised that that would be a low impacting request which is being asked to be putin a
queue with high impact customer requests. The impact of raising C1 and B5 has not been
considered regarding how it will impact customers. Some aspects need to be paused until we
understand the customer impact here and can find a solution, such as using skip codes, that
can be put in place by all parties as there should be allowance for parties to self-report as and
when there are issues outside their control.

MR advised that a replay of the discuss and a feedback summary document will be brought
back to the PAG.

3. Review of logic around vacant meters in consultation 5 modelling

MR presented Vacancy considerations in performance modelling, as on slide 13.

PAG74 12 February 2025 5




MOSL

JD advised that the data performance is being based off today, is not necessarily reflective of
behaviours that will be aligned with the new MPF and behavioural changes will be forced
around how retailers deal with not being able to get a read. With the new MPF, resolving
meter issues is restricted by timelines on charges incurring forcing trading parties to raise
bilaterals as the only recourse. JD noted that the figures on the presented at previous PAG do
not align with the figures noted in the consultation document, requesting that rationale and
data for the decisions be included, too.

SF advised that explanations will be included in the final consultation documentation on how
the performance standards were decided, noting that some explanations have already been
included in the documents currently published. A range of factors have been considered for
each performance standard.

JD queried whether trading parties would be able to request to have a view of the data on
their individual performance.

SF advised that the shadow period will enable a view for each trading party of the individual
performance.

JD advised that a consultation should take place after trading parties have had a view of the
rationale for the proposed thresholds and charges.

SF advised that MOSL has shared what the overall impact of the market and the range of
performance is, having a balance between sharing thoughts on what is right for the market
through consultation with trading parties and sharing the detail with trading parties through
shadow period.

GL agreed that the consultation needs to be accompanied by the data used to conclude the
rationale on the standards as this would strengthen the consultation and feedback.

DMo agreed that the consultation needs to be accompanied by the data and advised that the
shadow period should not be used as a sounding board

4. Review of design for legacy long-unread/long-unread meters

MR presented Review of proposal for LLUMs and LUMS, as on slide 15.

WM advised that legacy LUMs were previously agreed to be the responsibility of wholesalers
querying how it has become a retailer responsibility and incur financial penalties.

PAG74 12 February 2025 6




MOSL

MR advised that the codes do not separate LLUMs and recognises all meters with the
responsibility of retailers to obtain a read, to align with the code there is no exclusion for
LLUMs.

AB agreed that LLUMs need to be included and read but that there may be a need to have a
separate piece of work on LLUMs and recognise responsibilities around who is realistically able
to achieve those reads.

AR advised that there needs to be discussions on what possible the route to resolution is for
LUMS and noted that is one phase one KPIs and that there is another metric in phase two, M10,
for wholesaler LUMs. There is also an additional indicator which is looks at LLUMs which will
allow the PAC to understand factors around LLUMs in terms of the reporting.

DM advised that an APl may not be enough until there is assurance that there will be quick wins
around timely and efficient development of market codes.

GB queried whether LLUMs for wholesaler be included in holistic reporting as it will incentivise
wholesalers to address them.

SW confirmed that LLUMs will remain on the wholesaler holistic reporting tables and holistic
reporting will be discussed at the next PAG meeting.

JD advised that having financial penalties on LLUMs does not put the market on a new route to
resolution as there has not been a conclusion on where responsibilities sit, and trading parties
are being fined for things outside their control.

DMo advised that no recognition is being given to the fact that there are many hurdles retailers
face before being able to obtain a read as they do not own the meter.

EJ advised that having forward modelling for LLUMs would be useful to resolve through
bilaterals, to understand the number of bilaterals that will be raised and how it would impact
wholesalers around deferrals, failing SLA and incurring fines.

5. Update on M09 following PAG feedback

SF presented M09 - % performance standard update, as on slide 17.

JD advised that there is no requirement in the codes to have a certain number of visual reads on
estimates as this should be dealt with through audits and is not something that should be
measured or fined. There has not yet been clarification around the use of estimates through the
code change.

PAG74 12 February 2025 7




MOSL

SF clarified that this would be a non-charging KPI. The performance standard is there to try and
assess how you try and drive up performance and to support some of the other tools such as
escalation.

JD queried why it would not, instead, be an API which the PAC could use to drive solutions.

SF noted previous PAG discussions with the view that this is a KPl where, because estimates are
allowed, it does not make sense to have a charge on it and instead have performance
monitoring with the path able to escalate and go through certain procedures of trading parties.

GB advised that being in the upper quartile is not unrealistic but that estimates are not bad and
that the focus should be more around the reasons for the estimates and whether the overall
consumption from the previous retailer to the current retailer is good or if there an impact on
the outgoing retailer. Agreeing that M09 should be an API and not a KPI.

MR advised that all feedback will be taken away by MOSL for consideration.

6. Upcoming PAG workshop(s) & AOB

MR provided an overview of upcoming workshops.

MR closed the meeting.

PAG74 12 February 2025 8




